
From Keighley to Skipton ɀ a journey of 1900 years  

Suppose you had to get from the Keighley Picture House to The Plaza in Skipton, what route would 

you take ? 

Almost certainly, it would be: down North Street into Skipton Road; right at the first roundabout and 

then left at the next, onto the A629 dual-ŎŀǊǊƛŀƎŜǿŀȅΦ  CǊƻƳ ǘƘŜǊŜ ƛǘΩǎ ŀ ǎǘǊŀƛƎƘǘŦƻǊǿŀǊŘ ŘǊƛǾŜ ƻǾŜǊ 

the two roundabouts at Steeton and Kildwick, and then onto the single-carriageway that takes you 

through Snaygill and into Skipton from the south. 

LǘΩǎ ǎǳŎƘ ŀƴ ƻōǾƛƻǳǎ ǊƻǳǘŜ ǘƘŀǘΣ ǎǳǊŜƭȅΣ ǘƘŜǊŜ ŎƻǳƭŘƴΩǘ ōŜ ŀƴȅ ƻǘƘŜǊ Κ  CƻǊ ŜȄŀƳǇƭŜΣ ƴƻ-one in their 

right mind would think to turn left off North Street and go up Spring Gardens Lane and onto Hollins 

Lane; down through Steeton and Eastburn to the Kildwick roundabout; then straight on and over the 

Kildwick bridge; up through Farnhill, right onto Bradley Lane, down Bradley bank, through the 

village, up and over the hill to Snaygill and then on to Skipton ?   

If you were to go that way, one thing is ceǊǘŀƛƴΥ ȅƻǳ ǿƻǳƭŘƴΩǘ ƘŀǾŜ ǘƛƳŜ ǘƻ ōǳȅ ǇƻǇ-corn. 

But, as this article will describe, this convoluted route was, for a long time before the invention of 

cinema (or pop-corn), the only way to get from Keighley to Skipton. 

Click below for the full 1900-year story of how to get from Keighley to Skipton: 

The Romans ς all roads lead to (and from) Elslack 

Development of village communities (c.AD400 ς 1086) 

The true cost of Kildwick bridge (1305 ς 1313) 

²ŀǊōǳǊǘƻƴΩǎ aŀǇ όŎΦ1720) 

The Kildwick Parish map of 1768 

The impact of the Leeds-Liverpool canal (1773) 

Keighley and Kendal Turnpike Road Trust (KKTR) (1752 ς 1878) 

Increasing traffic at Kildwick corner (c.1910 ς 1986) 

Beechcliffe to Kildwick A629 Trunk Road (1986 ς 1988) 

ά¢ƘŜ ƻƴƭȅ ƻǇǘƛƻƴ ǘƘŀǘ ǿŜ Ƴǳǎǘ ǊŜƧŜŎǘ Χέ ς Kildwick to Skipton (1988 ς 2014) 

The latest proposals for Cononley Lane End (2015) 

Appendix A ς Could Kildwick have been a major transport hub ? 

Appendix B ς An alternate trans-Pennine route, from the 1960s ? 

 

The_only_option#_


The Romans ɀ all roads lead to (and from) Elslack  

All good history starts with the Romans, and so shall we. 

Not only were the Romans prodigious road-builders but they built to such a high construction quality 

that many of their roads, even today, form the basis of modern highways.  So much so that even 

ǿƘŜǊŜ ŀ ƳƻŘŜǊƴ ǊƻŀŘ ƛǎƴΩǘ ōŀǎŜŘ ƻƴ wƻƳŀƴ foundations, it will often follow a route not far removed 

from that of the Roman original. 

There are the remains of two Roman settlements in the area: the Roman fort at Elslack1, and the 

smaller fort and settlement at Ilkley.  Antique sources are unclear on the names of these 

settlements, but it now accepted that both Olicana and Olenacum refer to Elslack with the name 

Verbeia being used for Ilkley2,3. 

Both appear to have been founded around 70AD, at the time the Romans were extending their 

control over the north of the new province of Britannia, and to have been in and end of use between 

then and the end of the Roman occupation at the start of the 5th century. 

It is reasonable to assume that there would have been at least one road built between the two sites, 

with others to connect them to the wider Roman road network within Yorkshire and the North of 

England generally.  

One of the best researched and reported of these was excavated by Dr. Francis Villy, who did a lot of 

work on Roman and pre-Roman roads and track-ways in the Keighley area in the first couple of 

decades of the 20th century.  He identified an almost complete stretch of road between Keighley and 

Glusburn, and possibly continuing on to the fort at Elslack4. 

A further route led from Elslack fort along the line of the now defunct Skipton to Colne railway, 

which cut through the fort when it was built, from Elslack towards Skipton Station, then following 

the line of Newmarket Street and Shortbank Road5. 

5ǊΦ ±ƛƭƭȅΩǎ ǊƻǳǘŜ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ YŜƛƎƘƭŜȅ ŀƴŘ 9ƭǎƭŀŎƪ Ǌǳƴǎ ǳǇ {ǇǊƛƴƎ DŀǊŘŜƴǎ [ŀƴŜΣ ŀƴŘ ƻǳǘ ƻŦ YŜƛƎƘƭŜȅ Ǿƛŀ 

Hollins Lane.  An archaeological excavation in 1921, in the field opposite The Hollins (OS ref: SE 0455-

4332), revealed an undisturbed section of the road 16ft wide, with stone kerbstones, and having a 

camber of 18 inches, that was considered to be Roman6,7. 

The road then drops down into Steeton as Hollins Bank Lane which becomes the High Street.  It has 

been suggested that the origins of Steeton as a village began with a ribbon-development along the 

line of this stretch of Roman road8. 



 

Figure - 1Υ ¢ƘŜ ǊƻǳǘŜ ƻŦ 5ǊΦ ±ƛƭƭȅΩǎ ǇǊƻǇƻǎŜŘ wƻƳŀƴ wƻŀŘ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ YŜƛƎƘƭŜȅ ŀƴŘ {ǘŜŜǘƻƴ IƛƎƘ {ǘǊŜŜǘΦ  ¢ƘŜ ǊƻǳǘŜ ǘƘŜƴ 

continues through Eastburn, Crosshills and Glusburn to the Flavian fort at Elslack.  This map drawn on a background of 

the 2010 Ordnance Survey Map (Crown copyright)  

After a break, which must have taken the road through what is now Eastburn and Crosshills9, 

archaeological evidence for a road appears near Ling Haw on Glusburn Moor and again under Well 

Head Lathe, as a terrace10. 

As we will see, the Spring Gardens Lane to Crosshills section of this road may have continued in use 

as part of the main Keighley to Skipton road until well into the 18th century. 

Development of village communities (c.AD400 ɀ 1086 ) 

Roman administration over the province of Britannia ended around AD400, and organised society 

immediately collapsed1.  Into the turmoil walked the Saxons.  As Bede tells us, Britain was in such a 

bad state that in at least some instances the Saxons were actually invited in, for fear of something 

worse2. 

By the 7th century, Anglo Saxon kingdoms had been established throughout England, followed in turn 

by the Danes in the North and East. 

The Roman centralised command economy was replaced by a dispersed, largely agrarian economy. 

 At the same time, building in stone was abandoned in favour of building in wood. 



Because wood structures leave very few obvious remains, the evidence for the development of 

communities in this area in the period between the end of Roman rule and the arrival of the 

Normans is based solely on the Old English origin of most of the place-names and fragments of 9th 

ŎŜƴǘǳǊȅ {ŀȄƻƴ ǎǘƻƴŜ ŎǊƻǎǎŜǎ ŜȄŎŀǾŀǘŜŘ ŦǊƻƳ {ǘ !ƴŘǊŜǿΩǎ ŎƘǳǊŎƘ ƛƴ Kildwick. 

Modern Name3 Name in Domesday book Meaning (all Old English with some Norse) 

Keighley Chichelai Cyhha's wood/clearing  

Steeton Stivetune {ǘŜǇƘŜƴΩǎ ǘƻǿƴ hw Farmstead built among (from) 
tree stumps 

Eastburn Esebrune (Land to the) East of stream 

Kildwick  Childeuuic Dairy-farm of the young men / attendants 

Farnhill  Fernehil Fern-clad hill 

Bradley  Bradelai Broad clearing 

Snaygill   The snake-infested nook of land 

Skipton   Sheep town / estate 

The Domesday survey of 1086 indicates that all the villages we know today between Keighley and 

Skipton were already well established in 1066 and were big enough to be recorded for taxation 

purposes. 

Name4 Owned by (in 1066) Owned by (in 1086) Tax Paid (in 1086) 

Keighley  Ravensward, Toli, 
Ulfkil, William of Utley 

King William 6 geld 

Steeton  Gamelbarn of Kirkby Gilbert Tison 2.5 geld 

Eastburn  Gamelbarn of Kirkby Gilbert Tison 4.7 geld 

Kildwick Arnketil King William 2 geld 

Farnhill Gamal son of Karli King William 2 geld 

Bradley Gamal son of Karli, 
Arnketil, Thorkil 

King William 7 geld 

Snaygill Earl Edwin King William 3.9 geld 

Skipton Earl Edwin King William 3.9 geld 

Now although there is no documentary or physical evidence for any road building in this period, it is 

not unreasonable to suggest (particularly given the pattern of land ownership) that track-ways may 

have been built to connect these otherwise isolated communities. 

We can then conjecture that, by the time of the Domesday survey, a continuous route existed 

between Keighley and Skipton; using the old Roman road between Keighley and the Crosshills area, 

crossing the Aire at Kildwick over a wooden predecessor of the current bridge5, and then continuing 

on through the villages on the other side of the river. 



The true cost of Kildwick bridge ( 1305 ɀ 1313 ) 

The date of the first bridge across the Aire at Kildwick is not known.  However, one thing that the 

internet is certain about is that the first stone bridge was built in 1305, by the Canons of Bolton 

Priory, at a cost of £21 12s 9d1 (and many others).  LǘΩǎ ŀ ƎƻƻŘ ǎǘƻǊȅΣ ōǳǘ ƛǘ ƛǎƴΩǘ true. 

¶ First, the cost quoted is clearly far too low.  The average wage for a craftsman in 1305 was 

3d per day2.  Assuming 300 working days per year, this amount would fund the effort of 

barely five men. 

¶ {ŜŎƻƴŘΣ ǿŜΩǊŜ ōŜƛƴƎ ŀǎƪŜŘ ǘƻ ŀǎǎǳƳŜ ŜƛǘƘŜǊ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ ǿƻǊƪ ǿŀǎ ŎƻƳǇƭŜǘŜŘ ƛƴ Ƨǳǎǘ ƻƴŜ ȅŜŀǊ ƻǊ 

that the Canons of Bolton Priory had very good accountants, able to estimate and accrue the 

cost of a major construction project to the penny. 

So, a stone bridge built in one year by five men, with the equipment available in 1305; funded by 

monks employing advanced accounting techniques.  LǘΩǎ ƴƻǘ ǊŜŀƭƭȅ ŎǊŜŘƛōƭŜΦ 

The story is based on an entry in the 1305 account book for the priory, which is said to read: 

In the building of the bridge of Kildwyk £21.12s 9d3 (and many others) 

This interpretation appears to have originated with the Rev. E. W. Brereton, a former vicar of 

Kildwick, who included it in his book ά¢ƘŜ IƛǎǘƻǊȅ ƻŦ YƛƭŘǿƛŎƪ /ƘǳǊŎƘέ (publ. 1909).  However, in 1980 

a copy of the original Latin document was found at Grange Farm, Kildwick, in which the line appears 

as: 

Construction of the bridge at Kildwick in part Χ 

As reported by Roy Mason in the Bradford Telegraph and Argus4 the omission of the last two words 

in other records seems to have misled historians into believing the bridge was completed in 1305 

and that the sum was the total cost of construction. 

aŀǎƻƴΩǎ ŀrticle then goes on to describe how the construction took place between 1305 and 1313, 

with a break during 1311.  It lists some of work from 1306, as follows. 

Year Work and cost 

1306 Thomas the mason was paid: £1 7s by William Desert, £11 6s 4d by Brother Symon de 
Otley, £1 19s 5½d by Robert the Chaplain, and £1 6s 4d by Brother Henty de Poyngton. 
Various other workers, stone-breakers and carters were paid 4s 5d. 

1307 Thomas the mason and John de Farnhyll were paid £14; John the carter, 2s 6d. 

1308 Total expenditure for the year: £11 18s. 

1309 Total expenditure for the year: £13 6s 1d. 

1310 Construction of a lime kiln: £2 7s 4d. 
Cost of food for masons: 13s 
Horse shodding: 8d 
Ralph le Quarreour was paid 8s for breaking stones. 
Master Hugh the mason: 13s 4d 
William the mason: 10s 
John le Tornur and his groom: 2s worth of food, payment for stone-breaking. 
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Year Work and cost 

1311 No work recorded. 

1312 Paid to masons: £5 17s 4½d.  

1313 Paid to masons: £1 6s 8d. 

This is a far more believable account of the building of the first stone bridge recorded in Craven, the 

oldest bridge in the Aire valley, and one of the earliest documented medieval bridges in Yorkshire. 

In 1780 the bridge was widened5, presumably to allow for two-way traffic.  The bridge as it currently 

stands is, subsequent work notwithstanding, two separate bridges standing side-by-side: the Skipton 

side is the 14th century original, the Keighley side the result of the 1780 improvements. 

    

Figure 2 - Kildwick bridge photographed from the Skipton side and the Keighley side.  Note the four round arches on the 

Keighley side, and two pointed arches and two round arches on the Skipton side. 

 

Figure 3 - Kildwick bridge photographed from the Skipton side.  The two sections of the bridge can be clearly seen, with 

the ribbed vaulting (nearest) representing the 14
th

 century bridge and the plain barrel vaulting (furthest) the 1780 

widening work. 



¢ƘŜ ƭƻƴƎ ǘŜǊƳ ŎƻƴǎŜǉǳŜƴŎŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ YƛƭŘǿƛŎƪ ōǊƛŘƎŜ ǿŀǎ ǘƻ ŦƛȄ ŦǊƻƳ молр ƻƴǿŀǊŘǎΣ ǉǳƛǘŜ ƭƛǘŜǊŀƭƭȅ άƛƴ 

stoƴŜέΣ ǘƘŜ Ǉƻƛƴǘ ŀǘ ǿƘƛŎƘ ǘƘŜ ǊƻǳǘŜ ŦǊƻƳ YŜƛƎƘƭŜȅ ǘƻ {ƪƛǇǘƻƴ ŎǊƻǎǎŜǎ ǘƘŜ ǊƛǾŜǊΦ  Over time this 

makes Kildwick a busy place (a smithy and coaching inn will be built ς facing each other ς on the 

Northern end of the bridge, nearest the village) but as we will see, increasing traffic volumes in the 

20th century will become a significant problem for the village. 

7ÁÒÂÕÒÔÏÎȭÓ -ÁÐ (c.1720) 

Of all the early maps of the area one of the most useful is that produced by John Warburton from 

about 1720.  Warburton actually surveyed the area himself, making careful measurements of 

distances and noting various side roads and buildings of interest near-by. 

The notes he made during these surveys have survived and were quoted extensively by J. J. Brigg in 

Ƙƛǎ ōƻƻƪ άThe YƛƴƎΩǎ Highway in Cravenέ όǇǳōƭΦ 1927).  .ǊƛƎƎ ŀǳƎƳŜƴǘŜŘ ²ŀǊōǳǊǘƻƴΩǎ ƻǊƛƎƛƴŀƭ ǘŜȄǘ 

with comments and summaries of his own to create a full description of the route from Keighley to 

Skipton as it would have been when Warburton made his survey.  We have adopted the same 

approach, using botƘ ²ŀǊōǳǊǘƻƴΩǎ ƻǊƛƎƛƴŀƭ ŀƴŘ ŜȄǘǊŀŎǘǎ ŦǊƻƳ .ǊƛƎƎΩs text of 1927, adding further 

comments that may be useful to contemporary readers. 

What is perhaps surprising is that the route, although convoluted by comparison with the modern 

road, is quite easy to follow. 

Keighley to Steeton  

²ŀǊōǳǊǘƻƴΩǎ a{ όмтнлύ BriggΩs commentary (1927) Updated notes (2011) 

Began to survey from Keighley 
Cross to Skipton 

Keighley Cross - where High 
Street, Low Street, North Street 
and Church Street intersect. 

Close to the modern Airedale 
Shopping Centre. 

  His route took him down 
Changegate (for North Street 
was not yet made) along Cooke 
Lane, and in a direct line, across 
the site of the Institute, Lord 
Street, etc., past the site of 
Sandywood House to Low 
Spring Gardens Lane at a place 
ƪƴƻǿƴ ŀǎ ά¢ƘŜ CƭƻǎƘέΣ ŀƴŘ ǎƻ 
by Low Spring Gardens, and the 
Hollins, to the top of Steeton 
Bank. 

CƻǊ άLƴǎǘƛǘǳǘŜέ ǊŜŀŘ YŜƛƎƘƭŜȅ 
College. 
¢ƘŜ άǎƛǘŜ ƻŦ {ŀƴŘȅǿƻƻŘ IƻǳǎŜέ 
is now Keighley Picture House1. 
άCƭƻǎƘ IƻǳǎŜέ ƛǎ ŀ ǇǊƛǾŀǘŜ 
house at the bottom of Spring 
Gardens Lane2. 
²ŀǊōǳǊǘƻƴΩǎ ǊƻǳǘŜ ƻǳǘ ƻŦ 
Keighley follows the Roman 
road identified by Dr. Villy. 



²ŀǊōǳǊǘƻƴΩǎ a{ όмтнлύ BriggΩs commentary (1927) Updated notes (2011) 

The view from the top of the 
bank was described:  
Common on ye Left, a great 
valley, meadow and arable ye 
Rt. Handson Hall, Holden 
Lodge, a house on ye Rt, called 
Hollens, and a stone wall ye Rt. 
Silsden Village lies N.E., 0.8 
degrees at about 1 ½ m, Hollen 
Beck Ho., ye River winds in ye 
valley to ye Rt. 

CƻǊ άIŀƴŘǎƻƴ Iŀƭƭέ ǊŜŀŘ IƻƭŘŜƴ 
Park Golf Club; for άIƻƭŘŜƴ 
[ƻŘƎŜέ ǊŜŀŘ ¦ǇǇŜǊ IƻƭŘŜƴΤ ŦƻǊ 
άIƻƭŘŜƴ .ŜŎƪ IƻόǳǎŜύέ ǊŜŀŘ 
Lower Holden. 

Apart from the reference to 
Hollens, Warburton appears to 
be looking across the valley 
towards Silsden to view these 
buildings3. 

 Descending the sǘŜŜǇ ά.ŀƴƪέ 
into Steeton the road crossed 
the beck and ran, as it does 
now, in front of Hob Hill and so 
direct to the beginning of 
Harewood Hill. 

Hob Hill appears now to be part 
of Chapel Road, near to Steeton 
Health Centre4.  
A small map in the supplement 
to the first edition of BriggΩs 
ōƻƻƪ Ƙŀǎ ǘƘŜ ƭŀōŜƭ άIŀǊŜǿƻƻŘ 
Iƛƭƭέ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ƳƻŘŜǊƴ ǊƻŀŘ 
directly in front of the Airedale 
Hospital.  The beginning of 
Harewood Hill might therefore 
be the Chapel Hill / Pot Lane / 
Skipton Road junction. 

Steeton to Kildwick  

²ŀǊōǳǊǘƻƴΩǎ a{ όмтнлύ BriggΩs commentary (1927) Updated notes (2011) 

  Here it made a right-angled turn 
down to a place afterwards 
ŎŀƭƭŜŘ άbŀƴƴȅ DǊŀǾŜ Iƛƭƭέ ŀƴŘ 
ǎƻΣ ǘǳǊƴƛƴƎ ƭŜŦǘ Χ 

The precise location of this is 
now unclear5.  However, a 
small map in the supplement 
ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ŦƛǊǎǘ ŜŘƛǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ .ǊƛƎƎΩǎ 
book places it between Pot 
Lane and Lyon Road ς close to 
or possibly under the Airedale 
Hospital. 

Ye Red Lion Inn 
Cross Eastburne beck a stone 
bridge. 

For άwŜŘ [ƛƻƴ Lƴƴέ ǊŜŀŘ [ȅƻƴ 
House. 

Now Lyon House Farm, Lyon 
Road6. 

  From Eastburn Bridge the road 
ran to Cross Hills at what is now 
Lothersdale Road corner. 

The top of Station Road ? 

A Rd. ye Lt. to Elslack and back 
direct to Glusburn 

This is the line of the Roman 
road suggested by Dr. Villy. 

.ǳǘ ǘƘŀǘΩǎ ƴƻǘ ǘƘŜ ǿŀȅ ǿŜ ǿŀƴǘ 
ǘƻ ƎƻΣ ǎƻ Χ 

  At Cross Hills the road turned 
sharply to the right, and passing 
the present Kildwick Station 
crossed Kildwick Bridge into 
Kildwick Village. 

CƻǊ άǇǊŜǎŜƴǘ YƛƭŘǿƛŎƪ {ǘŀǘƛƻƴέ 
read former Kildwick and 
Crosshills station, in Station 
Road. 
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Figure 4 ς ²ŀǊōǳǊǘƻƴΩǎ ŎΦмтнл ǊƻǳǘŜ ŦǊƻƳ {ǘŜŜǘƻƴ ǘƻ YƛƭŘǿƛŎƪΦ  This map drawn on a background of the 2010 Ordnance 

Survey Map (Crown copyright)  

Kildwick to Bradley  

²ŀǊōǳǊǘƻƴΩǎ a{ όмтнлύ BriggΩs commentary (1927) Updated notes (2011) 

Kildwick Church ye Rt ς a 
street back direct to 
Silsden ς Kildwick Hall 2 
furlongs ye Rt. 

The present highway from 
Kildwick to Skipton was not then 
made, nor the canal, and 
Warburton goes on to describe 
ǘƘŜ ƻƭŘ ǊƻŀŘ Χ 

Warburton is describing the route 
up Priest Bank Lane to Kildwick Hall.  

¢ƘŀǘΩǎ ƴƻǘ ǿƘŜǊŜ ǿŜΩǊŜ 
ƎƻƛƴƎ Χ 
Leave ye village ς Houses 
scattered both sides ς 
Farnell village 

Χ ŀǎ ƛǘ ŎƭƛƳōǎ ǘƘŜ ǎƘƻǳƭŘŜǊ ƻŦ 
Farnhill Moor, through Farnhill 
Village. 
Warburton overlooks the 
junction with the road in High 
Farnhill of the road from Silsden. 

 

Away ye Left to Farnell 
Hall ½ furlong ye Left 

  On the modern road the priority 
Ƙŀǎ ŎƘŀƴƎŜŘΣ ƛǘΩǎ ƴƻǿ ǎǘǊŀƛƎƘǘ-on to 
Farnhill Hall with a right turn 
required to get onto Bradley Lane. 

hƴŎŜ ǿŜΩǊŜ ƻƴ .ǊŀŘƭŜȅ 
[ŀƴŜ Χ 
Ye Left ς Farnell Wood and 
a wall ye Left 
Ye Common 

  Bradley Lane still has a wall on its 
left side, along the edge of the 
wood; the right side being open to 
Farnhill Moor. 



²ŀǊōǳǊǘƻƴΩǎ a{ όмтнлύ BriggΩs commentary (1927) Updated notes (2011) 

Ye end of Farnell Wood ς a 
house ye Left 
(Hamblethorp) ς ye wall 
continues  

Once a possession of the Knights 
Hospitallers. 

Hamblethorpe Farm. 

Enter a lane  Χ ŘŜǎŎŜƴŘǎ by a steep and 
dangerous hill into Low Bradley. 

Warburton neither knows nor cares 
that many drivers and their vehicles 
will come to grief on Bradley Bank. 

Enter Low Broadley ς 
Houses scattered both 
sides ς a street ye Rt. Into 
ye towne 

  The right is the road to Bradley 
Manor (College Lane). 

 

Figure 5 - ²ŀǊōǳǊǘƻƴΩǎ ŎΦмтнл ǊƻǳǘŜ ŦǊƻƳ YƛƭŘǿƛŎƪ ǘƻ .ǊŀŘƭŜȅΦ  This map drawn on a background of the 2010 Ordnance 

Survey Map (Crown copyright)  



Bradley to Skipton  

²ŀǊōǳǊǘƻƴΩǎ a{ όмтнлύ BriggΩs commentary (1927) Updated notes (2011) 

Leave ye Towne a lane ς 
cross Broadley Beck 

The road went from Low Bradley over the 
shoulder of the hill to Snaygill and along the 
ƭƛƴŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǇǊŜǎŜƴǘ ǊƻŀŘ ƛƴǘƻ {ƪƛǇǘƻƴ ŀǘ ά{ƘƛǇ 
/ƻǊƴŜǊέΦ 

CƻǊ ά{ƘƛǇ /ƻǊƴŜǊέ ǊŜŀŘ 
Caroline Square / 
Swadford Street7. 

Cross Walton Brooke, a 
stone by the arch ς 
Houses both sides 

    

A street, ye Left Swadford Street.   

Come to ye cross at 
Market-day, Saturday. 

CƛȄŜǎ ǘƘŜ ǎƛǘŜ ƻŦ {ƪƛǇǘƻƴ aŀǊƪŜǘ /ǊƻǎǎΧ мср 
yards from the end of Swadford Street. 

Between Craven Court 
and Otley Street. 

The Kildwick Parish map of 1768  

 

Figure 6 ς A map of Kildwick parish, dated 1768 (reproduced by permission of Christ Church, Oxford) 

This map shows a high degree of correspondence with the Warburton map of not quite 50 years 

earlier.  The only road running East-West along the valley is that between Kildwick and Silsden (the 

modern Priest Bank Road--Grange Road route).  The route from Keighley to Skipton runs through 

Sutton, over Kildwick bridge, up thǊƻǳƎƘ CŀǊƴƘƛƭƭ ŀƴŘ .ǊŀŘƭŜȅΣ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜƴ ƻƴ ƻǾŜǊ ά{ƴŀƪŜƘƛƭƭέ ό{ƴŀȅƎƛƭƭύΦ  

 



The impact of the Leeds -Liverpool canal (1773 ) 

The Skipton to Bingley section was the first part of the Leeds-Liverpool canal to be completed, in 

17731. 

Between Snaygill and Kildwick, the waterway crosses the roads described by Warburton and shown 

on the 1768 map at three points: 

¶ At Snaygill, where bridge #1822 was built to take the road from Bradley to Skipton over the 

canal. 

¶ At Cononley Lane End, where the Grade II listed bridge #183a3 was built to take the lane that 

Warburton describes as leading to Farnhill Hall (and from there, presumably on to Cononley) 

over the canal. (Although no direct route is shown on the 1768 map.) 

¶ In Low Farnhill, where a Grade II listed aqueduct was built to take the canal over the Newby 

Road at the bottom of Main Street4. 

The building of the canal left its mark on Farnhill village, where the building of the aqueduct must 

have been a considerable undertaking.  The area now called "The Arbour" was originally known as 

"The Harbour", and is marked as such on maps of the village dating from as late as the early 20th 

century.  The building closest to the aqueduct, Kirkgate House, was until 1935 a public house known 

as "The Ship"5.  So Farnhill could claim to have a "Ship" and a "Harbour" - in a village that is nowhere 

near the sea.  

Keighley and Kendal Turnpike Road Trust (KKTR) (1752 ɀ 1878 ) 

Note: ¢ƘŜ ŘŜŦƛƴƛǘƛǾŜ ǿƻǊƪ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ YŜƛƎƘƭŜȅ ŀƴŘ YŜƴŘŀƭ ¢ǳǊƴǇƛƪŜ wƻŀŘ ƛǎ ά¢ƘŜ YƛƴƎΩǎ IƛƎƘǿŀȅ ƛƴ 

CravenέΣ ōȅ WΦ WΦ .ǊƛƎƎ όǇǳōƭΦ мфнтύΦ  Unless stated otherwise, this book has been used as the source 

for all information in this section. 

From earliest medieval times, the maintenance of highways was the responsibility of the county and 

the local parish.  The Highways Act of 1555 regularised this arrangement and required that all the 

inhabitants above the position of a hired labourer do four days work each year (later increased, in 

1562, to six days) in order to maintain the roads locally1. 

Despite this, and other Acts of Parliament, the condition of roads deteriorated and, in 1706, the first 

ά¢ǳǊƴǇƛƪŜ ¢Ǌǳǎǘέ ǿŀǎ ŦƻǊƳŜŘΥ ŀ ǇǊƛǾŀǘŜ ŎƻƳǇany authorised by parliament to levy tolls to maintain 

and develop a specific highway2. 

As the industrial revolution took hold, a number of Turnpike Trusts were established and, from 1750 

onwards, there was a campaign to have a Turnpike Trust take control of the roads in Craven.  The 

case for the new arrangement was made most forcibly in a broadsheet circulated locally: 

The Woollen Manufacture has of late years been carried on and is daily increasing in Craven, for 

which it is better situated in every respect (save the scarcity of Coal) than any other part of the 

Country.  DƻƻŘ wƻŀŘǎ ǿƻǳΩŘ ƭƻǿŜǊ ǘƘŜ tǊƛŎŜ ƻŦ /ƻŀƭ ŀǘ ƭŜŀǎǘ ƻƴŜ-¢ƘƛǊŘΣ ǘƘƛǎ ǿƻǳΩŘ ōŜ ŀ ǇǊƻŘƛƎƛƻǳǎ 

advantage to all the inhabitants, and such an encouragement to that BranŎƘ ƻŦ ¢ǊŀŘŜ ŀǎ ǿƻǳΩŘ 

ǊŜƴŘŜǊ ƛǘ DŜƴŜǊŀƭΣ ōȅ ǘƘƛǎ ƳŜŀƴǎ ǘƘŜ /ƻǳƴǘǊȅ ǿƻǳΩŘ ōŜŎƻƳŜ tƻǇǳƭƻǳǎ ŀƴŘ ŎƻƴǎŜǉǳŜƴǘƭȅ ǘƘŜ ±ŀƭǳŜ 

ƻŦ [ŀƴŘ ƎǊŜŀǘƭȅ ƛƴŎǊŜŀǎŜŘ Χ 



When the Roads are effectually repaired Goods may be conveyed from one Place to another in 

Carriages with less than half the Number of Horses now employed in carrying Packs and 

ŎƻƴǎŜǉǳŜƴǘƭȅ ŀǘ ƘŀƭŦ ǘƘŜ 9ȄǇŜƴŎŜ Χ 

Are not Roads so narrow that frequent disputes happen between Carriers and other  

tŀǎǎŜƴƎŜǊǎ Κ Χ 

These are all Facts too well known to be denied. 

Of course there were some obstacles to be overcome.  Apparently some local farmers were none 

too happy: 

¢ƘŜ DǊŀȊƛŜǊǎ ŀǊŜ L ōŜƭƛŜǾŜ ǘƘŜ ƻƴƭȅ tŜƻǇƭŜ ŀǘ ǿƘƻǎŜ LƴǎǘŀƴŎŜ ǘƘŜ hǇǇƻǎƛǘƛƻƴ ƛǎ ǎŜǘ ƻƴ Cƻƻǘ Χ Lǘ ƛǎ 

ŜǾƛŘŜƴǘ ǘƘŜƴ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ !ŘǾŀƴŎŜ ǘƘŜȅ ŜȄǇŜŎǘ ƎƻƻŘ wƻŀŘǎ ǿƻǳΩŘ ƳŀƪŜ in their Farms is their real 

objection and this can I the better assert as some of them have declared they neither want Trade 

or Inhabitants at Skipton. 

There was some question about whether people would be expected to continue contributing to the 

repair of the road: 

hƴ ǘƘŜ ǉǳŜǎǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ά{ǘŀǘǳǘŜ [ŀōƻǳǊέ ƭŜǎǎ ǘƘŀƴ ǘǿƻ ŎƻƳƳƻƴ ŘŀȅǎΩ ǿƻǊƪ ƛǎ ƴƻǘ ŘƻƴŜ ōȅ ǘƘŜ 

Inhabitants on any TURNPIKE Road whatever. 

The motive of MPs in voting for the new arrangement was also considered and dismissed: 

But that every or any Member will be induced to vote for a TURNPIKE from the chance that he 

might have of Travelling over the Road sometime or other, is a very unjust Imputation, as no 

Parliament were ever known to have enacted more useful Laws for the Publick than the Present. 

All-in-all, then: 

Lǘ ƳƛƎƘǘ ōŜ ǎŀƛŘ Χ ǘƘŀǘ ŀ ¢¦wbtLY9 ǿƻǳΩŘ ƳŀƪŜ ŀ ōŜǘǘŜǊ ¢ǊŀŘŜ ŀƴŘ ŀ ƎǊŜŀǘŜǊ bǳƳōŜǊ ƻŦ 

Passengers. 

This campaign was successful and, in 1753, the route between Keighley and Kendal came under the 

control of the Keighley and Kendal Turnpike Road Trust (KKTR)3. 

The good intentions of the KKTR were made clear when it was decided that the standard width of 

the turnpike road would be 7 yards, of which 5 yards were to be metalled.  Although this standard 

was not always kept to, it represented a significant increase in quality when compared to earlier 

roads.  For example, in 1720 the churchwardens of Kildwick made a contract with local road builders 

to repair 62 yards of the causeway on the Crosshills side of Kildwick bridge to a width of just 3 yards.  

This seems to have been the standard width of the road surveyed by Warburton and is not far 

removed from the current width of parts of Farnhill Main Street, Bradley Lane and the road between 

Bradley and Snaygill. 



The various works undertaken by the KKTR between Keighley and Snaygill are summarised below. 

 However, despite all this endeavour the Trust was a commercial failure, incurring debts of nearly 

ϻопллл ōŜŦƻǊŜ άΧ ōȅ ǎƻƳŜ ǎƻǊǘ ƻŦ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ŜǳǘƘŀƴŀǎƛŀΣ ǘƘŜ ŘŜōǘ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ YŜƛƎƘƭŜȅ ŀnd Kendal 

¢ǳǊƴǇƛƪŜ wƻŀŘ ¢Ǌǳǎǘ ŜȄǇƛǊŜŘ ǘƻƎŜǘƘŜǊέ ƛƴ мутуΦ 

Keighley to Steeton  

Year Work 

1782 The Spring Gardens Lane ς Hollins Lane ς Hollins Bank Lane ς High Street route out of 
Keighley towards Steeton was superseded by a new road: Bar House Lane ς Keighley 
Road.  

1786 North Street, Keighley, laid out.  

1824-1826 Development of Skipton Road, Keighley, continuing through Utley to Steeton.  The 
άŦƛƴŜ ŀǇǇǊƻŀŎƘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ǘƻǿƴ ƻŦ YŜƛƎƘƭŜȅ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ ƴƻǊǘƘέΦ  This joined up with the 1782 
road at the junction with Bar House Lane.  

The sum of these works creates the route which formed part of the Keighley Skipton route up to 

1988: along North Street then on to Skipton Road (the B6265), which becomes Keighley Road. 

 

Figure 7 - ¢ƘŜ YY¢w ǿƻȊ ΨŜǊŜ ς and still is.  A stone horse-trough on the outskirts of Utley.  This is thought to be the only 

άǎƛƎƴŜŘέ ŀƴŘ ŘŀǘŜd piece of road furniture on the whole of the Keighley to Kendal turnpike. 

Steeton to Kildwick  

Year Work 

1753 New bridge over Steeton beck. 

1789 Skipton Road, Steeton.  Continuing on from Keighley Road, Skipton Road forms the 
main road through Steeton and Eastburn (the B6265). 

1824 Eastburn Bridge to Kildwick Bridge.  The road, running almost due north diverges 
from the old road at the Crosshills junction ς cutting-off the circuitous route through 
Crosshills recorded by Warburton. 



Kildwick to Snaygill  

Year Work 

1786 ς 7  Skipton Road ς from Kildwick Church to Snaygill, superseding the old route through 
Farnhill and Bradley. 

Apparently the KKTR Minute books for the period 1763 ς 1786 had already been lost by the time 

Brigg wrote his book in 1927 and so there is no definitive information on the construction of this 

section of road, which is still in use as part of the Keighley to Skipton route today. 

However, the opening of the new road was heralded in the newspaper The Leeds Mercury, which 

published the following report4: 

We hear from Skipton that the new diversion of the turnpike road between that place and 

Keighley was opened on the tenth instant [10th May 1787] whereby those disagreeable hills of 

Snagill, Bradley and Farnhill together with the navigation culvert at Kildwick are entirely avoided 

and the whole road between Skipton and Bradford by means of this and other diversions at 

Steeton Bank and Cottingley Cliff is now rendered the most easy and level of any in the whole 

county.  And we are further authorised to inform the public that notwithstanding it is supposed 

to be near three miles further from Skipton to Leeds by way of Keighley and Bradford than by 

Otley, yet in consideration of the former road being so level and good in comparison of the latter 

and that it will be done in less time and with more ease it is agreed by the different people who 

keep chaises, to run both ways at the same pace so that travellers from Leeds into the West need 

be under no terrors of the future about those tremendous hills of Otley, Schwen [Chevin ?] and 

Short Bank. 

{ƻΣ ǘƘŜ ƴŜǿ ǊƻŀŘ ƛǎ ƴƻǘ ƻƴƭȅ ŦƭŀǘǘŜǊ ŀƴŘ ǎƳƻƻǘƘŜǊ ǘƘŀƴ ƛǘ ǿŀǎ ǇǊŜǾƛƻǳǎƭȅΣ ōǳǘ ƛǘΩǎ ƴƻǿ ŀ ōŜǘǘŜǊ ƻǇǘƛƻƴ 

than the alternative, shorter, route. 

The turnpike road coming out of Kildwick ό{ƪƛǇǘƻƴ wƻŀŘύ ŘƻŜǎ ƛƴŘŜŜŘ ŀǾƻƛŘ ǘƘŜ άŘƛǎŀƎǊŜŜŀōƭŜ Ƙƛƭƭǎέ 

of Snaygill, Bradley and Farnhill, its course running along the bottom of the valley between the river 

Aire and the Leeds to Liverpool canal, keeping very close to the line of the canal for almost all its 

length.  Why this should be the case is not clear but it is tempting to suggest that using land already 

disturbed by the canal-building just 13 years previously may perhaps have been more cost effective 

than buying productive farm land closer to the river. 



 

Figure 8 ς A KKTR ƳƛƭŜǎǘƻƴŜ ŜǊŜŎǘŜŘ ƛƴ мтус ŎƭƻǎŜ ǘƻ /ƻƴƻƴƭŜȅ [ŀƴŜ 9ƴŘΦ  ¢ƘŜ ƳƛƭŜ έǎǘƻƴŜέ ǿŀǎ Ŏŀǎǘ ŀǘ  ǘƘŜ William 

Tower Globe Foundry, in Leeds. 

In any event, in Kildwick the canal and river lie very close together and the new Skipton Road, 

entering the village alongside the old smithy and opposite the church, must do a right-angle turn in 

order to go over Kildwick Bridge (Figure 9).  As the volume of traffic increases in the 20th century this 

will become a bottle-neck.  


